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 1          A.  Probably the Clinical Training Committee.  I
 2    don't recall.
 3          Q.  Do you know when you discussed this?
 4          A.  No.
 5          Q.  Do you remember the substance of that
 6    conversation?
 7          A.  Yeah.  The issue was the absence of due
 8    process and appeal within the Cleveland Clinic.  For any
 9    grievance a student, who was allowed to participate as a
10    student, in the Cleveland Clinic, the absence of that
11    due process was salient and important in this entire
12    process.  They only accept students when they can
13    dismiss that student for any cause, at any time.  And
14    that's in this contract that Dr. Adamcik signed, and
15    it's quite consistent with affiliation agreements we
16    sign all throughout the region of Southeast Idaho, and
17    it is an agreement between Idaho State University and
18    that particular agency.
19                Agencies take on our students to train them,
20    but they do not take that student on as an employee.  So
21    the student is recognized legally as not an employee of
22    the agency.  And the agency can dismiss the student for
23    any cause at any time, without any appeal.  The appeal
24    is rested with our institution, Idaho State University.
25                Mr. Yu always had the right to appeal any
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 1    grade or dismissal as shown by the graduate catalog, and
 2    was repeatedly told to him every year when he reviews
 3    the Clinical Student Handbook, which references the
 4    graduate catalog.  This contract was between the
 5    University, Idaho State, and the Cleveland Clinic.
 6                It was a necessity.  We could never place a
 7    student in any agency without an Affiliation Agreement,
 8    and the agencies that are willing to accept our
 9    students, for which we were eternally grateful, will not
10    accept a student who is an employee -- the student does
11    not have employee status in that agency.
12                So hence, the absence of a due process.  And
13    somewhere in this document, and I couldn't tell you
14    where, it will say that the student can be dismissed
15    without due process in the agency, for any cause.
16          Q.  So that's kind of a long answer, but your
17    understanding is that, I guess the Cleveland Clinic, we
18    could call it CCA, could basically terminate the
19    internship for any cause at any time.  Is that your
20    testimony?
21          A.  That is my understanding, yes.
22          Q.  Are you sure you don't want to take a look
23    at that document again?
24          A.  It's legalese to me.  We skim through it.
25    But it's a decision of the Idaho State University
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 1    administrator saying, yes, this is an acceptable
 2    Affiliation Agreement to us, and the hospital saying,
 3    yes, this is an acceptable affiliation, we will take on
 4    your students under these conditions only.  That's my
 5    understanding of it.  Could I explain the particular
 6    legal language in here, no.
 7          Q.  All right.  So what is your signature on
 8    that document, page --
 9          A.  I'm the person who routes it.  This is like
10    a routing thing.  See where it says Initiator?
11          Q.  Yes.
12          A.  I get this, I route it through ISU, it goes
13    through here, you can see the college looked at it.  And
14    then you can see Dr. Adamcik, representing the Provost
15    office, she signed it.  So it's routed through ISU, and
16    I'm the initiator of it, having been given this
17    contract -- I assume it came to me -- by the Cleveland
18    Clinic.  When Mr. Yu approached us and wanted to work at
19    this site, as was his right to propose, we said great.
20    One of the things we have to do is an Affiliation
21    Agreement.  You'll have to work with the people at the
22    Cleveland Clinic to see what that Affiliation Agreement
23    would look like, and then our lawyers and various levels
24    of review will look at it, see if it's consistent with
25    Affiliation Agreements that Idaho State can sign.  That
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 1    was the process.
 2                I'm the initiator of forwarding the document
 3    to Idaho State.
 4          Q.  So you're the initiator.  I'm assuming,
 5    then -- correct me if I'm wrong -- but if you initiated
 6    the document, you read the document?
 7          A.  Skimmed the document.
 8          Q.  So --
 9          A.  I'm not competent to review this document.
10    This is a legal document between two institutions.  I
11    leave that to my Dean and to the lawyers that help the
12    Deans, help the Provost.  I've literally initiated
13    dozens of these contracts over the decades.  We have
14    sort of a boilerplate contract that is used up and down
15    Southeast Idaho here, where I've been the initiator of
16    Affiliation Agreements at any number of institutions,
17    which I can name if you wish.
18                But they all involve legal language that is
19    crafted by our office of contracts, and I don't remember
20    the name of the actual office.  There's a lawyer in that
21    office who helps craft these, looks at it from ISU's
22    standpoint.  Then it goes to lawyers and higher-level
23    administers of the other agency.  It's an Affiliation
24    Agreement between two agencies.
25          Q.  When you say two agencies --
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 1          Q.  And would you agree that is the actual date
 2    of the document?  I mean the actual date that you wanted
 3    to have on this document that is signed by you?
 4          A.  Yes.  We were in the fall of 2012.  That was
 5    the period during which Mr. Yu had made this proposal,
 6    and we started to help him work on it such that it could
 7    actually be brought to fruition by January of 2013.
 8          Q.  Okay.
 9          A.  So yes, I assume that's an accurate date.  I
10    signed it, I probably wrote it.
11          Q.  You probably wrote it?
12          A.  I wrote it.  I'm assuming I wrote it.  I
13    signed it.
14          Q.  It's kind of important --
15          A.  I wrote it.  I'm convinced I wrote it.
16          Q.  Did you consult with Mr. Yu in writing this
17    document?
18          A.  No.
19          Q.  Now, I'm going to call your attention --
20    we're going to skip a couple pages, but the same
21    exhibit, pages 0776 to 0783.
22          A.  Okay.
23          Q.  What is the date of this document?  If you
24    need time to look at it, Doctor, just tell me.
25          A.  I can see that Dr. Adamcik signed it in
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 1    October of 2012.  So I'm assuming that was the date of
 2    her review.  Let's see.  I can't read the photocopy, but
 3    the equivalent administrator at the Cleveland Clinic
 4    signed it, looks like just preceding this.  Looks like
 5    October 16th, so about two weeks ahead of Adamcik.
 6          Q.  Would you agree that this -- would you agree
 7    that this agreement is between the Cleveland Clinic
 8    foundation and Idaho State University?
 9          A.  Yes.
10          Q.  Is Mr. Yu's signature on this document?
11          A.  No.
12          Q.  Now, Dr. Roberts, I want you to go to
13    page 0779 of this document.
14          A.  Okay.
15          Q.  Another question I wanted to ask you before
16    I get into that -- well, no.  I'll just do it this way,
17    we're there.  So excuse me for being a little bit
18    discombobulated here.  Take a look at this paragraph on
19    0779, I think it's paragraph Q.
20          A.  Right.
21          Q.  Now, I believe your testimony is that they
22    could dismiss Mr. Yu for any cause at any time.
23    Correct?
24          A.  Right.
25          Q.  Take a look at that Q, starting with CCF.  I
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 1    want you to read that.
 2          A.  You want me to read that paragraph out loud?
 3          Q.  Yeah.  If it helps.  I was going to do it.
 4          A.  CCF may terminate the participation of a
 5    student in a training program at CCF if the student's
 6    work, conduct, or health may have a detrimental effect
 7    on its patients, staff, or operations.  A student
 8    generally will not be removed from a clinical experience
 9    until CCF has discussed its concerns with a
10    representative of the school.  However, CCF reserves the
11    right to take immediate action to suspend a student's
12    participation in response to a lack of professionalism,
13    concerns of patient care, or the safety and respect of
14    its staff.
15          Q.  So would you agree with me that this
16    contract does not say for any cause?  There has to be
17    some specific cause?
18                MR. KELLY: Let me object to the form.  Go
19    ahead if you can answer.
20                THE WITNESS: I'm not sure I understand.  As
21    a non-lawyer, I read that as they can terminate a
22    student for any cause, and they actually list a few
23    examples, which would be lack of professionalism,
24    concerns of patient care, or the safety and respect of
25    its staff.  And those are germane for students, and very
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 1    appropriately so.
 2                And I actually recall this particular
 3    paragraph now, because I cited it a couple of times in
 4    our own documents in response to the concerns this
 5    entire issue has brought.  And so any cause is certainly
 6    a very broad term, but the particular terms listed in
 7    this paragraph are the ones that are germane in the case
 8    of Mr. Yu and his dismissal from CCF.
 9    BY MR. COULTER: 
10          Q.  So let's go over each one of them.
11          A.  Okay.
12          Q.  Lack of professionalism.  What evidence was
13    provided by CCF that -- what evidence was provided by
14    CCF, that you reviewed, that showed that Mr. Yu had a
15    lack of professionalism?
16          A.  They had no obligation to me to document
17    reasons.  However, the director, who I came to know,
18    Dr. Speer, and I communicated more than once during the
19    internship, via email, and via phone at least once, that
20    Mr. Yu's readiness to perform the tasks she required
21    were not sufficient at the outset of the internship, and
22    that she worked hard with him to try and improve his
23    patient care, but was unable to reduce her involvement
24    in that patient care, such that if she was not
25    immediately present, she lacked confidence that he could
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 1    perform the professional actions.
 2                I believe she had an autism center, and she
 3    was trying to teach him some of the protocols for their
 4    interventions, and certainly their assessments, and that
 5    she found his abilities to perform the assessments, and
 6    to perform the interventions, to be inadequate, and that
 7    she was not able to reduce her intensive supervision.
 8                And hence, she came to the conclusion that
 9    he was not a good fit, he lacked readiness.  Despite her
10    acceptance of him at the outset, she came to believe he
11    could not perform the job at the level of independence
12    required, and dismissed him.  There's a letter, plus my
13    own documents, of our own interchanges, that describes
14    that four-month process.
15          Q.  Okay.  So let me ask you another question.
16    In the psychology field, what does professionalism mean?
17          A.  There are specific items on our own rating
18    scales, in which all supervisors rate the
19    professionalism of the student.  Professionalism
20    involves interactions between the student and the staff,
21    between the student and other students, between the
22    student and the supervising faculty.  So professionalism
23    has to do with collegial interactions, respect for the
24    agency's policies and procedures, using the accepted
25    processes of communication and meeting the obligation of
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 1    the agency for, for example, file control,
 2    documentation, and so on.  There is an amorphous set of
 3    processes we would call professionalism.
 4          Q.  So let's just take your definition of what
 5    professionalism is and apply it to staff.  What evidence
 6    were you provided that Mr. Yu lacked professionalism to
 7    staff?
 8          A.  None.
 9          Q.  What about other students?
10          A.  Are we talking at the Cleveland Clinic?
11          Q.  Yes.
12          A.  They didn't provide me any such evidence.
13          Q.  What about for policies?
14          A.  They did not provide any such evidence, no.
15          Q.  What about evidence regarding concerns of
16    patient care?  Now, first of all, tell me how you define
17    patient care.
18          A.  Patient care provides the assessments and
19    interventions necessary to address the concerns of the
20    patient, given the appropriateness of clinical
21    psychology to provide those assessments and those
22    interventions.  As students progress from novice
23    students, who are well-intended, but naive to the
24    program, since they're first year students, students are
25    learning that patient care under the level of

Page 40

 1    supervision, that is ethically required of we licensed
 2    psychologists, to delegate any patient care to that
 3    supervisee.  We are very careful about that, and we only
 4    provide opportunities to provide patient care to
 5    students in light of their current abilities to provide
 6    that care.  If they can provide that care under
 7    supervision, we then allow the student to provide that
 8    care.  If the student makes progress, we reduce the
 9    level of supervision as they mature from a first-year
10    student, all the way through the internship.
11                Internships expect more patient care skills
12    than we do as the first-year students -- of the
13    first-year students.  So there's a developmental process
14    that takes five years.  It's a long process.  It's
15    equivalent to medical school, post-Bachelor's.  So over
16    that five-year process, most students will gain the
17    independent skills such that the supervisor can
18    ethically delegate care responsibilities to that
19    student.
20                Dr. Speer's emails and final formal report
21    indicated that Mr. Yu did not meet the level of skill in
22    order to provide care to patients, where that level of
23    skill was supervised at the level typical of an intern.
24    She essentially had to work one-to-one with him, or did
25    not appear -- my inference is she did not believe she
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 1    could reduce her level of supervision to the level
 2    typical for an intern.  In other words, I can't remember
 3    her exact language.  You have those documents.  But her
 4    exact language was something like, he's not ready for
 5    this, he does not have the basic skills.
 6                Her ratings of him were at entry level and
 7    remedial for several APPIC competency rating evaluation
 8    items, that are very inconsistent with an intern level
 9    performance.  Most interns come into an internship, and
10    on that APPIC form, it's an evaluation sheet that is
11    very well crafted from APPIC.  It's been worked on for
12    years, and is always subject to update.  And they rate
13    the student as to his or her level of performance.
14                Most interns come in with lots of
15    intermediate-care-level skills already.  Most intern
16    participants do not receive ratings at the entry level.
17    That's more like a first-year doctoral student.  They're
18    an entry-level student.  We're teaching them.  They're
19    watching us, they participate.  That's what I do with
20    first-year students.
21                Mr. Yu was now a fifth year student, and had
22    impressed Dr. Speer to the degree that she was willing
23    to create this non-standard internship for him, and I
24    was very pleased about that.  So we worked with Mr. Yu
25    and CCF (sic) to create this.  However, once she started
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 1    working with him in January, she indicated to me that he
 2    was, quote, Not as far along as she expected.  And she
 3    also voiced the concern that he appeared to manifest a
 4    slow learning curve.  So at that point I then got a FRFA
 5    release from Mr. Yu, because I had to have a FRFA
 6    release -- don't ask me, federal education --
 7                MR. KELLY: Don't worry about it.
 8                THE WITNESS: So I obtained a FRFA release
 9    using the language that our legal team says we have to
10    use, and he used that language, and I then was free to
11    talk with her.  I said, Okay, yes, I agree with you.  He
12    is not as far along as we expected either, and I did
13    communicate that to her.
14                I said, Why don't you use the evaluation
15    form that we agreed to when we constructed the
16    internship, because it is a content valid APPIC document
17    used by most of the internship sites in America.  She
18    used it as a baseline.  I said, Use is it as a baseline,
19    and at the end of the spring semester, use it again.
20    Because our agreement was to use that assessment tool at
21    the end of each of the three semesters of the 12-month
22    internship.
23                So when she said, He's not as far along as
24    he should be, my suggestion, because she was trying to
25    consult, we were consulting with one another with what

Page 43

 1    to do with a student we valued and wanted to be
 2    successful -- that's very clear.  We valued Mr. Yu,
 3    wanted him to be successful.  I said, Okay, you're
 4    concerned about it, let's document what he's doing now,
 5    help him be aware of that.
 6                And hence, Mr. Yu and Dr. Speer performed
 7    the evaluation, to which Mr. Yu was a signatory.  That
 8    was in -- I can't give the exact date, but it was very
 9    shortly after our phone call in early January, and she
10    identified areas where there were entry-level skills,
11    and even below that, remedial skills, skills she didn't
12    believe he possessed, based on her interactions with him
13    and her efforts to help him acquire the skills she
14    required of an intern in her, I believe it's an autism
15    center, which I don't know anything about.
16                So that rating was done, and it was done
17    subsequently at the end of the semester, and he did not
18    improve, and she did not believe she could help him.
19    Hence she dismissed him.  If you ask, what's the
20    evidence, the evidence is in the rating skills used by
21    the supervisor on the site.  Which is a good rating
22    scale.
23    BY MR. COULTER: 
24          Q.  So if I understand your testimony, Dr. Speer
25    agreed to take Mr. Yu on based on his work that she had
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 1    done with him previously?
 2          A.  Apparently.  He volunteered at her autism
 3    center during the fall semester of 2012.  And she saw
 4    potential in him, and appreciated the fact -- I'm
 5    inferring here, this is my belief.  Can I give my
 6    belief?
 7          Q.  You can answer the question, and you can
 8    give your belief.
 9          A.  Okay.  It is my belief that she saw
10    potential in him, appreciated the fact that his progress
11    had approved him to apply to APPIC internships, and like
12    a subset of interns, don't match, because there's what's
13    called an internship imbalance, and she was sufficiently
14    impressed by him to take the huge amount of time it
15    took, in the fall of 2012, to create this internship.
16    Takes a lot of work.  And this is only part of it.
17                And then once she got in direct supervision
18    of him, given the commencement of the formal internship,
19    she was put aback by his current skill levels, and
20    that's what initiated the phone call to me, and my
21    consultation to use the evaluative tool now as a
22    baseline, and to reevaluate it at the end of the spring
23    semester.
24          Q.  So basically she thought she was getting at
25    least a Chevy, but she got a used car?
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 1          A.  I think those are your metaphors.  I would
 2    not want to support that characterization.  I don't
 3    know.  I can't look into Dr. Speer's mind.  She clearly
 4    saw something in him, during his work in the fall, and
 5    his accurate story that his program had offered him the
 6    opportunity to apply to an APPIC internship.  And like
 7    15 percent of those who do, he didn't match, and hence
 8    one of the things our program does, like most programs
 9    around the nation, we say, okay, if you don't match, you
10    can reapply, or you can propose an internship yourself.
11    You have to do all the work to do that, and we will make
12    sure it meets our standards, which is what we did.
13                We also gave him the third option, which he
14    turned down, which was the option of doing a culturally
15    accommodated internship in China, based upon his very
16    successful work during the summer of 2011, which was his
17    collection of dissertation data, which I supervised, all
18    during the summer of 2011.  I was thrilled, very
19    pleased.  It's the reason I gave him a strong internship
20    endorsement.  We said, given his ability within his own
21    culture and language, to at least manage protocoled
22    interventions in the population of interest, why not
23    construct an internship in China, which -- in which his
24    language and his culture match?  And where he
25    purportedly wanted to go back to once his degree was
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 1    completed, and do clinical work and clinical science,
 2    research, work in the university.  What could be a
 3    better fit?  And he turned us down.
 4          Q.  Let me ask you another question, just on
 5    this paragraph.  You don't have to agree with me.  I'm
 6    just trying to summarize something and get something in
 7    my head.  It seems to me that Dr. Speer and you
 8    communicated some of Mr. Yu's deficiencies in
 9    correspondence.  Would that be a correct statement?
10          A.  Yes, but not until January of 2013.
11          Q.  And didn't his internship start in January
12    of 2013?
13          A.  Yes.
14          Q.  So it was, like, within the first three
15    weeks?
16          A.  It was, like, on the first or second day of
17    the internship that she finally called me.
18          Q.  So it was, like, the first and second day of
19    the internship?
20          A.  Yes.
21          Q.  I was going to ask you that question, but I
22    didn't know how to get around back to it.  Were you
23    surprised to get a call from Dr. Speer on the first or
24    second day after the person just starts the internship?
25          A.  In his case, no.
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 1          Q.  Why do you say in his case, no?
 2          A.  Because he had difficulties with our staff,
 3    and with our externship site, during the previous year.
 4          Q.  But not in professionalism, in two days?
 5          A.  No.  If I recall, I'm really focused on the
 6    patient care and skill level here.
 7          Q.  So patient care.  I'm just trying to figure
 8    out, any doctor, I don't care what his level of skill is
 9    as a doctor, walks into a place, in two days, and we
10    have problems with his patient care?  Unless he had an
11    operation or something like that, I don't know how that
12    can happen in two days.  Should I better be talking to
13    Dr. Speer to figure out what really happened?
14          A.  Yes.  That would be a good idea.
15          Q.  But your testimony is, in two days, on the
16    second day of his internship, you got a call from
17    Dr. Speer?
18          A.  I don't recall the exact date, but it was an
19    early day in January, where she called and said, he's
20    not as far along as I thought.  And he seems to learn
21    slowly.  He had a slow learning curve.  Those were
22    her -- that's in my notes.
23          Q.  I'm sure you've seen his academic record.
24          A.  Of course.
25          Q.  Does his academic record to you reflect
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 1    somebody who has a slow learning curve?
 2          A.  On the professional side, yes.  On the
 3    course side, no.  He wasn't an academic star.  He had
 4    several B's.  Most of our students get all A's all the
 5    time.  But on the academic side, he was fine.  On the
 6    professional side, it became starkly apparent, during
 7    the fall semester of his fourth year, that he was unable
 8    to provide the level of professional skill that was
 9    expected by Dr. Landers at the externship site, and he
10    dismissed him from that externship site.
11                Like at CCF, that was his right under the
12    Affiliation Agreement with the Eastern Idaho Regional
13    Medical Center.  So our young man was dismissed from
14    that site, which was a surprise to us.  I personally
15    believed that that was a perfect site for him, because
16    it was a testing site.  Tests, when proscribed by
17    supervising psychologists are very exacting procedures.
18    You present a stimulus, patient responds, you score it,
19    you present the next stimulus.
20                Mr. Yu was a very hard worker, tried very
21    hard, could earn A's and B's academically, and had done
22    lots of testing for us in years one through three.  I
23    was the one who pushed that site, because I knew he
24    wasn't ready to take on therapy at the level of an
25    externship site, because he had done therapy with me,
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 1    and I had to maintain my position, either in the room or
 2    about behind the one-way window, in order to maintain
 3    patient care.  I've done several practicums.  I couldn't
 4    tell you exactly how many or when.  So I thought it was
 5    the perfect site, and when he got dismissed, it became
 6    very apparent that he didn't have the skills that are
 7    involved in the testing process, because those involve
 8    adjusting conditions when the clients become negatively
 9    emotionally aroused, when the client is confused.
10                There are many things you can do to protect
11    the integrity of the test, that is, actually get a valid
12    test.  You don't violate the testing conditions, but at
13    the same time you're reactive to the person.  So you
14    take a little break, you talk with them about what
15    they're concerned about, you pay attention to their eye
16    contact, like you and I have very good eyeing contact
17    right now.  You're nodding right now.  That's a very
18    nice gesture.
19                I'm looking at these things.  I use them to
20    see if the person I'm communicating with is processing
21    what I'm saying, and if we're resonating as a dyad.  If
22    I'm testing and someone becomes upset, I don't give the
23    next item on the test.  I stop and process that.  The
24    ratings by Dr. Landers and then Dr. Lynch, that same
25    fall semester, the ratings that I gave him in
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 1    conjunction with Dr. Haight in the following spring, all
 2    started to coalesce around skills that involved being
 3    able to adjust a therapy or a testing condition, given
 4    what the client is showing you through their, what we
 5    call paralinguistics, their gestures, facial
 6    expressions, tone of voice.
 7                He didn't seem to be able to make those
 8    adjustments, despite having watched us.  Our main way we
 9    teach this is through demonstration, and gradually
10    removing our physical presence, and then we watch the
11    student.  He struggled with that, which we largely
12    discounted due to his linguistic background.
13                But then starting in the fall, we started to
14    pay attention -- fall of 2011, we started paying
15    attention when Dr. Landers dismissed him.  That was a
16    real shocker to all of us.  We go, oh, no.  How did this
17    happen?  Okay, he wasn't ready.  Because Dr. Landers has
18    an a excellent history of being a supervisor for the
19    clinic.  Given Dr. Yu's very harsh rating with
20    Dr. Landers, we immediately had to look at it.  That's
21    one of my jobs as Director of Clinical Training.  If a
22    student gives a very bad rating to a supervisor, we
23    immediately evaluate that.  We talk to the supervisor.
24    We look at the supervisor's record.
25                In this case I actually had a second intern
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 1    simultaneously -- which is a perfect sort of comparison
 2    group -- and I interviewed that person.  Then I created
 3    this document for the Clinical Training Committee, which
 4    is my job, saying, I reviewed Mr. Yu's complaint against
 5    Dr. Landers, I'm functioning just like a good social
 6    scientist here, and a responsible administrator, I would
 7    argue, to show my group, it was not just Dr. Landers.
 8    It was a mismatch of readiness and skill at that
 9    externship site.
10                Hence, when I respond to your question, was
11    I surprised that Dr. Speer called me on day one, the
12    answer is, no.  I was hoping that, since she was a new
13    supervisor, in a field very much of interest to Mr. Yu,
14    autism -- because that's one of the main child areas,
15    and he's very much a child and family clinician -- I
16    thought that was a great match.  And I was hoping with a
17    different supervisor and a different context, highly
18    relevant and interesting to him, he would emerge and do
19    better.  And he didn't.
20          Q.  So getting right back to the one or
21    two days, did Dr. Speer specifically tell you what he
22    did, or did not do?
23          A.  I could only rely upon my notes, and I don't
24    have them in front of me, and they were very one-page
25    scribbled while I'm talking on the phone.  I can't
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 1    remember the specific thing.  I did infer that it had to
 2    do with her efforts at teaching him, and she did mention
 3    the specific testing tool that they needed administered
 4    to all of the youth, and I think that was one of the
 5    reasons she took him on, was that he could, as a
 6    psychological, doctoral student in clinical psychology,
 7    at the intern level, he should be able to do the gold
 8  standard autism test, called the ADOS 2:  Autism,
 9    Diagnostic, Observation, Schedule, Second Edition.
10                I'm actually very familiar with that test.
11    I use it, I supervise students in it.  It's not an easy
12    test to give, because it requires judgment.  It requires
13    summing kids' responses across a multiplicity of tasks,
14    making a rating scale of relevance.  It's a difficult
15    test to give, and apparently he was very frustrated, and
16    she was very frustrated at his inability to give that
17    test.  Okay?
18                Again, it speaks to being able to process
19    the paralinguistic skills of this little kid, keeping
20    the kid's interest, presenting items in a sequence that
21    the kid keeps trying, is interested and shows you the
22    things you want to learn about.  Apparently both Mr. Yu
23    and Dr. Speer were frustrated over that.  So if you ask
24    for an example, the only one that pops into my mind, and
25    I do know if, on that little piece of paper that's part
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 1    of this humongous paper trail, I don't know if that
 2    paper includes the word, ADOS 2.  That's the one
 3    exemplar.  You asked for an exemplar.  That's it.
 4                MR. COULTER: Did you want to take a break?
 5                MR. KELLY: Yes.
 6                (A Break Was Taken.)
 7    BY MR. COULTER: 
 8          Q.  Dr. Roberts, I have, the third aspect of
 9    that was that they could terminate Mr. Yu for cause,
10    basically, and one of those causes was safety and
11    respect of the staff.  That's the last one on page 779.
12    Did you have any evidence that was provided to you that
13    Mr. Yu -- that there was concern for Mr. Yu's causing
14    safety concerns and respect to the staff?  Did you have
15    any information there?
16          A.  I had no information regarding safety, and I
17    had some information regarding respect.
18          Q.  So what was the information you had
19    regarding respect to staff?
20          A.  Her statement that he did not take his
21    evaluation well.
22          Q.  And that was on day what?
23          A.  I don't recall.
24          Q.  Was it within the first week?
25          A.  No.  It was in the termination process in
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 1    April.
 2          Q.  Okay.
 3          A.  But that's the only information I have about
 4    that issue.
 5          Q.  Now, to your knowledge, was Mr. Yu given a
 6    chance to comment on the final Affiliation Agreement,
 7    which is part of Exhibit 1?
 8          A.  No.
 9          Q.  Now, was Mr. Yu consulted regarding this
10    agreement prior to the agreement being executed, to your
11    knowledge?
12          A.  By consulted, do you mean informed and
13    provided information about the internship?
14          Q.  No, sir.  I'm talking about this particular
15    agreement, right here, between the four corners, between
16    0776 and 0783.
17          A.  No.
18          Q.  Do you understand what I mean by the term
19    proxy?  That's a legal term.
20          A.  A substitute.
21          Q.  Pretty much.  Basically what I mean -- I
22    know.  You probably hold some type of shares in
23    something, and somebody sends you a brochure, and they
24    say, we'll send a proxy.  That means somebody is going
25    vote for you.
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 1          A.  Right.
 2          Q.  Is there any indication on the document, the
 3    Cleveland Clinic agreement, where there's indication
 4    that Mr. Yu gave his proxy any authority to enter the
 5    agreement?
 6                MR. KELLY: Let me object.  I think it calls
 7    for a legal conclusion, but go ahead.
 8                THE WITNESS: I'm not aware of anything like
 9    that.
10                (Exhibit No. 11 Marked.)
11    BY MR. COULTER: 
12          Q.  Dr. Roberts, I've handed you what has been
13    marked as Exhibit 11.  I call it the proposal for --
14          A.  Non-APPIC.
15          Q.  Let me finish.  I call it the Proposal for a
16    Non-APPIC Internship Placement.  That is ISU
17    Documents 0385 to 0395, I believe.  You can take a look
18    at that, Mike, and you can too, sir, to make sure, 0385
19    to 0395.  ISU documents.
20                MR. KELLY: Down at the bottom.
21                THE WITNESS: Yes.
22    BY MR. COULTER: 
23          Q.  I want you to take your time to review this.
24    Have you reviewed it?
25          A.  Yes.
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 1          Q.  Just tell me when you're done.
 2          A.  I'm done.
 3          Q.  Because I don't read that fast.
 4          A.  I wrote this.
 5          Q.  So that answers one of my questions.  Do you
 6    know who wrote this document?
 7          A.  I wrote this document in conjunction with
 8    the proposed site, and with the Clinical Training
 9    Committee of ISU Idaho State University.
10          Q.  Let's call it page 11.  I see the signature
11    of Mr. Yu.  What does that indicate to you?
12          A.  That he was a party to this agreement, and
13    he approved it.
14          Q.  All right.  And I see the signature of
15    Dr. Leslie Speer, Ph.D.  Do you see the same?
16          A.  Yes.
17          Q.  What does that indicate to you?
18          A.  That she was a party to the construction of
19    this agreement, and she approved it.
20          Q.  I see the language there that says -- well,
21    let's do this.  I see Mark W. Roberts.  Is that your
22    signature?
23          A.  It is.
24          Q.  Right above that I see a write-in that says,
25    Conditional upon compliance with letter dated 11/8/12,
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 1    and minor changes on pages 3, 10 and 13.
 2          A.  That's correct.
 3          Q.  Are those your initials?
 4          A.  Yes.
 5          Q.  Can you tell me what that's about?  What
 6    does that mean?
 7          A.  Clinical Training Committee found, in this
 8    final document, minor changes which are indicated on
 9    those pages.
10          Q.  Is that your initials?
11          A.  Yes, my initials are for the minor changes
12    on page 3.  For example, CDC insisted on only a
13    four-hour maximum for the research credit, and that was
14    something we approved, and thought was important.  Then
15    there's a minor change on page 10.  You can again see
16    the insert, and my initials there.  That looks just like
17    a typo.  And on page 13, which is not here, that's an
18    appendix.
19          Q.  Got it.
20          A.  And then the letter, you have to put that
21    letter in front of me, because there was a couple of
22    very important letters that were sent by us to Mr. Yu,
23    and I'd have to see that letter to recognize what it is.
24    But it was important that my signature was contingent
25    upon compliance with that letter and these three minor
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 1    changes.
 2          Q.  So that was going to be a question.  What is
 3    that letter?
 4          A.  You'd have to put it in front of me.  I
 5    could go up to my department and find it.
 6          Q.  We don't need to do that now.
 7                MR. COULTER: If I can get it at some
 8    particular point in time.  I can actually ask for it in
 9    discovery again.
10                MR. KELLY: Are you sure you don't have it?
11                MR. COULTER: I don't know what it is.  I'm
12    thinking, what is that letter?
13                MR. KELLY: I don't know what it is offhand
14    either.
15                MR. COULTER: I think I saw something that
16    was a letter.  I said, what is this letter.  I can't
17    figure out what that letter was.
18                MR. KELLY: I'm not sure offhand.
19    BY MR. COULTER: 
20          Q.  Let me ask you something.  Was there only
21    one letter?
22          A.  I think there were two letters, one to
23    Dr. Speer and one to Mr. Yu.  And a letter to Dr. Speer
24    was copied to Mr. Yu, and both of those letters are very
25    important.  Hence, they got into this signed agreement.
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 1                MR. COULTER: I'll tell you what I'll do.
 2    When I go back to my hotel, because I've got everything
 3    on the deal, I'll send you an email and see if I can
 4    find those two letters.
 5                MR. KELLY: Okay.
 6                MR. COULTER: I didn't think I saw them.
 7    I'm like, hmm.  Interested.
 8    BY MR. COULTER: 
 9          Q.  Now, in this proposal, if I have this right,
10    so we can try to save some time here, this was a
11    proposal that was agreed upon by Mr. Yu, yourself, and
12    Dr. Speer?
13          A.  I agree that it was approved by Mr. Yu and
14    Dr. Speer.  When I'm signing it, I'm representing the
15    Clinical Training Committee, which is all the clinical
16    faculty.  I represent that group, who is intimately
17    involved in the approval process for this non-APPIC
18    internship.
19          Q.  Is there anywhere in this APPIC -- in this
20    Exhibit 11, that has the same language that we just
21    talked about in Exhibit 1, in regards to dismissing
22    Mr. Yu for cause?
23          A.  I do not believe so.
24          Q.  This is why we do this.  You can take your
25    time and read it, because it's going to be one of the

Page 60

 1    only times, unless we're in court, that we can do this.
 2          A.  Item 15 might be relevant.  On page 393.  It
 3    specifies the rating system, and the dates of the
 4    evaluations.
 5          Q.  But do you remember on Exhibit 1, we just
 6    went over that paragraph in regards to the three areas
 7    for cause?
 8          A.  No -- yes.
 9          Q.  So my question is, are those areas for cause
10    represented anywhere in this particular document?
11          A.  Only to the extent that this conditional
12    upon compliance with these letters is relevant, and it
13    is relevant in the sense that he was informed in those
14    letters, again, one to Dr. Speer, cc'd to him, and in a
15    letter to him, where he understood that there was no due
16    process at the Cleveland Clinic --
17          Q.  So let me stop --
18          A.  -- and I am rather certain, that in the
19    relevant letters, it actually says that the Cleveland
20    Clinic can dismiss him.  I'm certain that that's in
21    there.  And there's two different letters, one to
22    Dr. Speer and one to him.
23          Q.  So we don't have the letters, but the
24    question is -- the question before us is that, when you
25    look at Exhibit No. 1, and the paragraph that we went
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 1    over -- do you need to see that again?
 2          A.  I remember the paragraph.
 3          Q.  Is there any paragraph in there -- in this
 4    particular document, Exhibit No. 11, that is the same or
 5    similar to paragraph Q in Exhibit 1?
 6          A.  No, there is not.
 7                MR. KELLY: Let's go off the record for a
 8    second.
 9                (A Discussion Was Held Off the Record.)
10                MR. KELLY: Just in reviewing some of the
11    documents in this matter, on Exhibit 11, page ISU 395,
12    we were referencing, in Dr. Roberts' testimony, a letter
13    dated November 8, 2012, a letter he testified went to
14    both Dr. Speer and Mr. Yu.  It would appear that the
15    actual dates for these letters were November 12, 2012,
16    which would be the letter to Dr. Speer, ISU
17    Documents 479 and 480, and the letter to Mr. Yu, dated
18    November 12th, Documents 481 and 482.  Do you want to
19    look at them now?
20                MR. COULTER: Yes.
21                (A Break Was Taken.)
22                MR. COULTER: Back on the record.
23    BY MR. COULTER: 
24          Q.  Now, what I'm looking at -- all right.  On
25    page 8 of Exhibit No. 11 -- I'm just using page 8
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 1    because right now if we say ISU document blah, blah,
 2    blah, it gets a little confusing.  It's the numerical
 3    page of Exhibit 11.  On paragraph 12 it talks about the
 4    due process and procedure.  Do you see that?
 5          A.  Yes.
 6          Q.  There's one bold highlighted section, and
 7    then there's the second, and then a third paragraph.  Do
 8    you see the third full paragraph?  The third full
 9    paragraph of Section 12 starts with, Specifically.
10          A.  Yes.
11          Q.  Now, reading for the record, it says,
12    Specifically, during these three required evaluations,
13    Mr. Yu will have the opportunity to disagree with the
14    conclusions of the supervisory team in writing, which
15    will be communicated with the Clinical Training
16    Committee of the psychology department of the Idaho
17    State University.  Mr. Yu has the professional
18    obligation and opportunity to work with the supervisory
19    team to negotiate any educational strategy designed to
20    address supervisory ratings below expectations, if any.
21    The Clinical Training Committee of the psychology
22    department at Idaho State University will play no role
23    in these evaluations, or in any plan to address concerns
24    identified by the supervisors.  Mr. Yu always has the
25    right to withdraw from the internship.  The Cleveland

Page 63

 1    Clinic has the right to dismiss Mr. Yu from the
 2    internship for cause.  See the Affiliation Agreement.
 3                So would you agree with me that the cause
 4    has to be the cause that's on the Affiliation Agreement?
 5                MR. KELLY: I object.  Calls for a legal
 6    conclusion.  You can respond if you can.
 7                THE WITNESS: Say the question again.
 8    BY MR. COULTER: 
 9          Q.  Yes.  Would you agree with me that the cause
10    on the Affiliation Agreement that they're talking about
11    is the same cause that we went over in Exhibit No. 1?
12                MR. KELLY: Same objection.
13                THE WITNESS: From my non-legal standpoint,
14    I assume that's the case.
15    BY MR. COULTER: 
16          Q.  This internship was set up to go through,
17    what, two semesters?
18          A.  Three.
19          Q.  Three.  Okay.  Mr. Yu did not make it
20    through the first semester.  Is that correct?
21          A.  That's correct.
22          Q.  Now, it's -- do you know if Mr. Yu disagreed
23    with the evaluation given by Dr. Speer?
24          A.  I assume he did.
25          Q.  Why do you assume that?
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 1          A.  Because he objected to it.
 2          Q.  Thank you.  Okay.  Was there any -- you said
 3    something interesting when you were answering a question
 4    before, that you and Dr. Speer talked, and you talked
 5    within about the first week or a couple of days?
 6          A.  Yes.
 7          Q.  All right.  Now, did she indicate that she
 8    had discussed Mr. Yu's "Below Expectations" with Mr. Yu,
 9    and planned some type of strategy to address that with
10    Mr. Yu?
11          A.  I am certain that she performed the APPIC
12    evaluation with Mr. Yu, in concert with Mr. Yu, in
13    January of 2013.  His signature is on that baseline
14    evaluation of internship competencies, so he signed
15    that, hence he was aware of it.
16          Q.  Are you aware that they discussed any type
17    of strategy?
18          A.  I assume they did.  I'm not aware of it.
19          Q.  All right.  So I'm going to try to cut it
20    short here a little bit.  The information that you have,
21    that you relied on, comes basically from Dr. Speer.
22    Would that be correct?
23                MR. KELLY: I'm going to object to the form.
24                THE WITNESS: It does not come solely from
25    Dr. Speer, since Jun Yu was a party to the baseline
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 1    evaluation to which his signature is affixed.  He was
 2    aware of her ratings of entry level, and in some cases
 3    remedial status for internship goals.
 4    BY MR. COULTER: 
 5          Q.  Okay.
 6          A.  I do not have anything in that document,
 7    however, that says he objected to that, but he did sign
 8    it.
 9          Q.  Did you ever, in the couple of weeks, all
10    right?  Or the first two days, when you got this report,
11    did you talk to Mr. Yu?
12          A.  No.
13          Q.  Why not?
14          A.  He was under the supervision and evaluation
15    of the site to which the Clinical Training Committee
16    could play no role.  We're not in a position to play a
17    role in their evaluative process, other than to agree
18    with the agency in advance as to the tools, and that was
19    completely their job to do that, and we had no recourse
20    to respond to it one way or another.
21          Q.  Were you prohibited from talking to Mr. Yu?
22          A.  No.
23          Q.  You just didn't?
24          A.  I did not.
25          Q.  Now, within that first two weeks of this
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 1    internship, which is supposed to last three semesters,
 2    my understanding is that there's a Dr. Frazier and a
 3    Dr. Chase who were the triumvirate of this internship.
 4    Am I correct?
 5          A.  That is correct.
 6          Q.  Did you receive any feedback from
 7    Dr. Frazier?
 8          A.  No.
 9          Q.  Did you receive -- okay.  Let me rephrase
10    that question.  Did you receive any feedback from
11    Dr. Frazier prior to making -- prior to the CTC's making
12    the recommendation to dismiss Mr. Yu?
13          A.  No.
14          Q.  Did you receive any feedback or input from
15    Dr. Chase?
16          A.  Yes.
17          Q.  Prior to making the decision to dismiss
18    Mr. Yu?
19          A.  I am rather certain we had that before that
20    decision was made, but I'd have to check the dates.
21          Q.  Is there any reason that you didn't get any
22    feedback from Dr. Frazier?
23          A.  Not that I'm aware of.
24          Q.  Did ask you for any feedback?
25          A.  No.

Page 67

 1                MR. COULTER: Could you hand the witness
 2    Exhibit No. 2, ma'am.
 3    BY MR. COULTER: 
 4          Q.  All right.  Dr. Roberts, have you had an
 5    opportunity to look at Exhibit 2?
 6          A.  Yes.
 7          Q.  Can you tell me what Exhibit 2 is?
 8          A.  It's the signed statement from Mr. Yu to me,
 9    indicating that he wishes to proceed with the internship
10    at the Cleveland Clinic, despite the identified
11    limitations in the letter that was sent to him.
12          Q.  And can you tell the Court -- excuse me,
13    would you just let us know what date that is dated?
14          A.  November 19th.
15          Q.  Is there any question in your mind that that
16    is the correct date?
17          A.  There was no question in my mind, yes.
18          Q.  In other words, you didn't assign the date.
19    Right?
20          A.  No.  But it was subsequent to the letter
21    sent to him, which defined the limitations.
22          Q.  All right, now, would you give Exhibit 2
23    back?
24                MR. COULTER: Madam Court Reporter, would
25    you give Dr. Roberts Exhibit No. 3?
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 1    BY MR. COULTER: 
 2          Q.  All right.  Dr. Roberts, could you just go
 3    ahead and look at Exhibit 3?  Take your time, read it.
 4    I'm going to ask you some questions about it.
 5          A.  Okay.
 6          Q.  Ready to go?  Okay.  I'm just trying not to
 7    look at you.  When you're ready to go, let me know, Ron,
 8    I'm ready.
 9          A.  Sorry.  I'm very familiar with this letter.
10    This is a semi-annual evaluation.
11          Q.  It was given in the spring of 2012.  Is that
12    correct?
13          A.  That is correct.
14          Q.  I'm going to call your attention to the
15    second page of this document, paragraph Roman
16    Numeral VI.
17          A.  Okay.
18          Q.  And it says that, The Clinical Training
19    Committee finds Jun's academic progress to be
20    satisfactory.  His professional progress, however, is
21    unsatisfactory.  Difficulties in communicating with the
22    patients and supervisors remains noticeable.  Further,
23    Jun's difficulties in assuming the perspective of
24    patients and supervisors is inconsistent with
25    fourth-year doctoral student status.
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 1                You would agree with that.  Right?
 2          A.  Yes.
 3          Q.  Okay.  Now, if he were seeing -- let's say
 4    he was seeing Chinese patients.  Do you think he'd be
 5    having those difficulties communicating with patients or
 6    supervisors?
 7                MR. KELLY: Objection.  Calls for
 8    speculation.
 9                MR. COULTER: It's his professional opinion.
10                MR. KELLY: Calls for speculation.  Go ahead
11    and answer if you can.
12                THE WITNESS: I don't know.
13    BY MR. COULTER: 
14          Q.  You don't know.  But you experienced working
15    with Mr. Yu with Chinese patients.  Right?
16          A.  I'm aware of what he did.  I was very proud
17    of his doctoral dissertation.  I supervised that via
18    Skype during the summer of 2011, and it is absolutely
19    true that of the 19 participants who qualified for his
20    project, every one of them completed that project, which
21    is exceptional.  The drop-out right in psychotherapy is
22    significant.  I couldn't tell you the exact number.
23                But because of that, I actually have the
24    evidence that he was able to do well in his own culture,
25    with his own language, with that protocol, and hence I
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 1    gave him a very strong internship evaluation.  That's
 2    the extent of the evidence that I have, and my
 3    inferences.
 4          Q.  And the next -- that same paragraph, because
 5    that's kind of an important paragraph, but it's a long
 6    one -- I mean section.  In the next paragraph under
 7    Section 6, I believe that you talk about the three
 8    different options that were available to Mr. Yu?
 9          A.  Yes.
10          Q.  Now, I want you to take a look at that
11    paragraph, and read it, because I'm going to ask you
12    some specific questions about it.
13          A.  I'm ready.
14          Q.  Now, is there anywhere in that paragraph
15    that says that, if Mr. Yu took one of these options,
16    that he would be precluded from taking any other
17    options?
18          A.  No.
19          Q.  You can hand that exhibit back to the court
20    reporter.  Exhibit 4.  Picking up speed, picking up
21    steam.  Dr. Roberts, have you had an opportunity to look
22    at Exhibit No. 4?
23          A.  Yes.
24          Q.  Can you tell me what it is?
25          A.  It's a bureaucratic issue regarding
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 1    continuous registration of doctoral students, and in the
 2    fall of 2012, he was not registered for any course, and
 3    I'm asking the Dean to waive that requirement.
 4          Q.  So that Dean would be Dean Hill?
 5          A.  It would be the Dean of the graduate school.
 6    It is a graduate school rule, hence the Dean of the
 7    graduate school was asked to waive it.
 8          Q.  Okay.  Just so I understand the bureaucracy
 9    and I don't have to ask this question again, you've got
10    the psychology department, and in the psychology
11    department you have a doctoral program, but the doctoral
12    program comes under some Dean who is not the psychology
13    Dean?
14          A.  That's correct.
15          Q.  So you have Deans within Deans?
16          A.  We have departments.  There is a Dean that
17    supervises one set of departments, another Dean with
18    another set of departments, and there is a Provost who
19    sits on top of them.  Or in the case of the graduate
20    school, the graduate school is somewhat like the Provost
21    office in the sense that they control the Master's and
22    doctoral degrees of all.  Hence it's Dean Hill who was
23    the Dean of the graduate school, but it's like a
24    superordinate position.
25          Q.  Got it.  So I was always curious, Dean Hill,
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 1    and why is that person important.  Okay.  I'm going to
 2    call your attention to the first paragraph, and I'm
 3    going to read it into the record, and ask you some
 4    questions about it.
 5          A.  Okay.
 6          Q.  It says, Jun Yu, with open parentheses
 7    Bengal ID --
 8          A.  Sure.
 9          Q.  I'm doing it for her.  Bengal ID, number
10    sign, hash tag, 00210017, close parentheses, comma, an
11    international student from China, successfully defended
12    his dissertation in June of 2012, and has performed all
13    clearance steps on the graduation checklist.  However,
14    Mr. Yu has not completed his clinical internship, open
15    parentheses, capital P, capital S, capital Y, capital C,
16    7749, close parentheses, comma, which requires an
17    11-12 month contract at a national internship site, or
18    an equivalent experience approved by our own Clinical
19    Training Committee.  The internship is his only
20    remaining degree requirement.  He is "all but
21    internship," -- on the all, there's a quotation mark,
22    open quotation mark, but internship, close quotation
23    mark, period.
24                I'm going to ask you some questions about
25    that.  Now, when you say he successfully completed his
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 1    dissertation in June of 2012, why is that important to
 2    mention?
 3          A.  I wanted to communicate to the Dean that
 4    there was no reason for him to have to register for a
 5    course in the fall semester, since he was waiting to
 6    determine which of these internship options he was going
 7    to take, and to initiate the approval process.  In the
 8    interim I did not want this young man to have to
 9    register for any course.  He did not need to.  Here was
10    the reason he did not need to, and by completing his
11    dissertation, he's really performed the academic
12    requirement that is terribly important, unlike a student
13    for whom the continuous registration requirement was
14    designed, which is a student who is all but
15    dissertation, quotes, and drags on for some period.
16                The graduate school insists that they be
17    registered for an additional credit of dissertation
18    every semester, to pay for it, until they finally
19    graduate.
20          Q.  Is that what you mean when you say, has
21    performed all clearance steps on the graduate checklist?
22          A.  There is a graduation checklist, and he had
23    performed all steps save one, the internship.  He had
24    not performed the internship.  The graduation checklist
25    is a device used by the graduate school to see the
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 1    progress of the student, and he had completed the
 2    graduation checklist, but he cannot be awarded his
 3    degree, because he had not completed the internship.
 4          Q.  So when you say he was "all but internship,"
 5    does that mean that if he gets his internship completed,
 6    he gets his doctorate?
 7          A.  Yes.
 8          Q.  So he only had one course to complete?
 9          A.  That course is a 12-month, 2,000 hour,
10    three-credit course, with one credit per semester for
11    three semesters.
12          Q.  Okay, but the answer --
13          A.  It's the fifth year, or sixth, for some, of
14    their education, so it's not a minor thing.
15          Q.  Absolutely.  Wasn't suggesting it was minor.
16    But it was the only thing he had to complete?
17          A.  That's correct.
18          Q.  I'm looking at the second part of this
19    paragraph, and in that we talk about those three options
20    again.
21          A.  Um-hum.
22          Q.  In this particular document, does it say
23    anything that these options, if he took one option, the
24    other options would be foreclosed?
25          A.  No.
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 1                MR. COULTER: Exhibit 5, ma'am.
 2    BY MR. COULTER: 
 3          Q.  Exhibit 5 is one of those --
 4          A.  Good.
 5          Q.  It's one of those letters that we had in
 6    there already.
 7          A.  Um-hum.
 8          Q.  And that's the right date, November 12th?
 9          A.  Um-hum.
10                MR. KELLY: You have to say yes?
11                THE WITNESS: Yes.
12    BY MR. COULTER: 
13          Q.  Now, have you had an opportunity to take a
14    look at this?
15          A.  Yes.
16          Q.  In the last paragraph, or beginning of the
17    last paragraph on the first page, which is ISU
18    Document 03123, it starts with, Please remember that the
19    Clinical Training Committee provided you two other
20    options to complete the required internship.  See your
21    spring semester evaluation letter, June 4, 2012.  One,
22    reapply to APPIC member sites; two, propose an
23    accommodated internship in China.  Both of these options
24    are still available to you.  Do you see that language?
25          A.  Yes.
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 1          Q.  You're going to get tired of hearing this
 2    question, but the question is, does it say anywhere in
 3    there that if he chose one of the three, that the other
 4    two were foreclosed to him?
 5          A.  No.
 6          Q.  Now, Dr. Roberts, did you inform Mr. Yu that
 7    if Mr. Yu were dismissed from the only requirement that
 8    he had to complete his doctorate, that he would be
 9    dismissed from the Doctor of Clinical Psychology
10    program?
11          A.  No.
12          Q.  To your knowledge, did any other faculty
13    member inform Mr. Yu that, if Mr. Yu were dismissed from
14    the only class that he had to complete to earn his
15    doctorate, that he would be dismissed from the Doctor of
16    Clinical Psychology program?
17          A.  I am not aware of any other communications.
18          Q.  And even though you answered this question,
19    I've still got to ask it, because it's being asked in a
20    different format.  To your knowledge, did any other ISU
21    administrator inform Mr. Yu that, if Mr. Yu were
22    dismissed from the only class he had to complete to earn
23    his doctorate, that he would be dismissed from the
24    Doctor of Clinical Psychology program?
25          A.  I'm not aware of any such communications.
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 1          Q.  Let me ask you a question that's not on my
 2    list.  Did you know, if he were dismissed from that
 3    program, that he would -- that would subject him to
 4    being dismissed from the doctorate program?
 5          A.  Did I know in advance?
 6          Q.  Yes.
 7          A.  No.
 8          Q.  Who made the call?
 9          A.  The Clinical Training Committee always looks
10    at the performance of the student that is -- and has
11    accumulated, and is provided to them, and then makes
12    decisions.
13          Q.  Who makes up the Clinical Training
14    Committee?
15          A.  All of the full-time clinical faculty
16    members.
17          Q.  So all the full-time clinical faculty
18    members were not specifically aware of Jun's academic
19    record, were they?
20          A.  Yes, they were.  They were the body who
21    provides information for each of his eight semester
22    evaluations, which you've shown me copies.  I am the
23    writer of the document, I am the signer of the document,
24    but I represent the Clinical Training Committee.
25          Q.  So you were the writer of the document that
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 1    started the process of dismissal?
 2          A.  I am the person who brought the information
 3    about the dismissal to the Clinical Training Committee,
 4    and the committee reviewed it in the context of all the
 5    information we have about Mr. Yu.
 6          Q.  All right.  So Dr. Roberts, this did not
 7    happen in a vacuum.  What -- if you were the person who
 8    wrote this document, what -- if you were the person
 9    who -- I don't know if there was a document that went to
10    the CTC that said, We need to dismiss this individual.
11    Was there a memorandum that was sort of circulated
12    throughout the CTC, that you authored, that said, We
13    need to look at dismissing Mr. Yu?
14          A.  No.
15          Q.  Well, then, how did -- who initiated the
16    communication with the CTC, to have Mr. Yu dismissed?
17          A.  I brought the dismissal from the internship
18    information to the Clinical Training Committee, for its
19    review and disposition, one option of which was to
20    dismiss the student, in his particular instance, for
21    failure to maintain satisfactory progress toward the
22    degree, based not simply on the internship dismissal,
23    but the process that unfolded, starting in the fall of
24    2011.
25          Q.  I've looked at this record of Mr. Yu very
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 1    carefully, and I can't find a single document that says,
 2    You're in professional trouble.  Should you not do X, Y,
 3    or Z, you're facing dismissal.  Is there any document
 4    like that?
 5          A.  There is no document like that that includes
 6    the threat of dismissal.
 7          Q.  It's not necessarily a threat of dismissal.
 8    It's a matter of -- look, if you fail the Academic Board
 9    in the United States Naval Academy, guess what, you're
10    going to get dismissed.  Everybody knows that.  You get
11    a period to get things done, but it's clearly spelled
12    out.  If you do X, Y, and Z, and you fail the Ac Board,
13    you're done.  Do you understand where I'm coming from?
14                Now, a person spends five years in this
15    program.  He gets a dismissal letter.  Was there any
16    warning given by the administration, or I could say the
17    psychology department, that should he fail this
18    internship, he would be subject to dismissal?  Was there
19    ever anything given that way?
20          A.  The graduate school handbook explicitly
21    states that a student who fails to make satisfactory
22    progress in the program can be dismissed, given a vote
23    of the faculty.  Hence, it is always an option to
24    dismiss a student from the program, given those
25    conditions.  The student is made aware of that process
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 1    every year when they are oriented to the clinical
 2    student handbook in the fall of each year.
 3                Every student attends that session, is
 4    indeed required to attend that session, and is indeed
 5    required to sign a document indicating they've attended
 6    the session, has been given a copy of the student
 7    handbook, and/or been given the updates of the
 8    subsequent handbooks after his first year.  Mr. Yu was
 9    given a copy of the handbook in 2008, and then he was
10    given updates every four years, and in those documents,
11    and in the handbook, it very specifically says the
12    student is responsible for understanding the graduate
13    school catalog for those parts that are relevant to
14    them.  So he was made aware of those legal documents,
15    and it is his responsibility to attend to them.
16          Q.  Okay.  I understand that.  I understand the
17    clinical handbook itself.  That wasn't my question.  My
18    question was, did anyone specifically -- let me back up
19    for a second.  Did he have a mentor?  Did he have a
20    project manager?
21          A.  I was his mentor for science, and I was his
22    Director of Clinical Training.
23          Q.  And you've known him for how long?
24          A.  Since 2008.
25          Q.  And you did not tell him that he was in
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 1    danger?
 2          A.  We did not anticipate the level of problem
 3    that yielded the dismissal.  We were hopeful that he
 4    would succeed.  Dr. Speer saw something in him during
 5    his fall volunteer work that led her to go to great
 6    pains of constructing the internship.  He could have had
 7    a good match with her and developed well.  The last
 8    thing I was going to do was threaten him with
 9    consequences at the start of that internship.  It did
10    not cross my mind to make that particular threat.
11                From my standpoint, what you're referring to
12    is a formal plan of remediation that specifies a
13    measurement and a consequence, such as, if you're
14    dismiss from X, Y, and Z, here's going to be the
15    consequence.  We did not have a formal plan of
16    remediation that had the measurement of success at the
17    internship.  You get your degree, failure, you'll be
18    dismissed.  We did not have that, we did not communicate
19    that, we did not anticipate his dismissal.
20                We were hopeful he would succeed.  We worked
21    very hard to craft an APPIC-equivalent internship
22    germane to him and his interests, and the site wanted to
23    provide it, and we were pleased and hopeful.  Hence, we
24    did not make any threat.  We did not anticipate the
25    dismissal.  As I mentioned earlier, I had some doubts
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 1    about his ability, based upon his 2011, 2012 externship
 2    and internship -- externship and practicum performance,
 3    but I was hopeful.
 4          Q.  So I guess the answer would be, no, to my
 5    question?
 6          A.  Repeat the question, and I can confirm that.
 7                (Last Question Read Back.)
 8                THE WITNESS: The answer to that is,
 9    correct, I did not tell him that.
10                MR. COULTER: Could you give the witness
11    Exhibit 6?
12    BY MR. COULTER: 
13          Q.  I'm going to ask you to take a look at
14    Exhibit 6, and when you're ready, just let me know and
15    I'll start questioning.
16          A.  Okay.
17          Q.  Have you had ample time to look at it?
18    You're still looking at it?
19          A.  It's fine.  Please proceed.
20          Q.  Okay.  Doctor, can you identify this
21    document?
22          A.  Yes.
23          Q.  And what is it?
24          A.  It was the faculty's response to his appeal
25    of the dismissal, consistent with the requirements of
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 1    the graduate school.
 2          Q.  So you say it was the faculties' response?
 3          A.  Yes.  The graduate faculty of the entire
 4    faculty, so the clinical faculty and the experimental
 5    faculty convened to review an appeal of the dismissal,
 6    which was issued previously by the graduate faculty of
 7    the psychology department.
 8          Q.  So I'm going to call your attention to the
 9    ISU document, the last page, 0642.
10          A.  Yes.
11          Q.  Whose signature is on this document?
12          A.  The department Chair.
13          Q.  So did the department Chair write this
14    document?
15                MR. KELLY: Object.  Calls for speculation,
16    and also the document speaks for itself.
17                THE WITNESS: I'm sure I drafted it in
18    response to the graduate faculties' convening and
19    discussion and points.  So I, as Director of Clinical
20    Training, I would take notes, and put all the germane
21    information into hopefully a concise manner, to
22    communicate to the student not only the faculties'
23    decision, but the process behind that decision.
24    BY MR. COULTER: 
25          Q.  So it's your testimony that you drafted this
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 1    document?
 2          A.  I believe I did, yes.  I would say yes to
 3    that.
 4          Q.  Let's look at the first page of this
 5    document.
 6          A.  Okay.
 7          Q.  Look where it says Argument No. 1.  Since
 8    you drafted this document, it's appropriate to ask you
 9    your knowledge of this.  Would that be correct?
10          A.  Yes.
11          Q.  So where it starts -- where is says, The
12    reasons behind your dismissal date back to the
13    unsatisfactory progress.
14                Do you see that?
15          A.  Yes.
16          Q.  And I believe your testimony was that, in
17    the professional aspect of it, we've had issues since
18    2011.  Is that correct?
19          A.  Yes.
20          Q.  And we won't go into why that is, because
21    you pretty well told us that.  Okay?  How does that -- I
22    was trying to get the connection.  In one document we
23    talk about, I think in Exhibit 4, we talk about "all but
24    internship" ready.  If Mr. Yu were having these problems
25    since 2011, how could he, "all but internship" ready?
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 1          A.  That language was used in communication with
 2    a graduate Dean for which that was the case.  On his
 3    program of study to complete Ph.D., he had completed all
 4    requirements except the internship.
 5          Q.  Dr. Roberts, did you feel, having known
 6    Mr. Yu since 2008, worked with him, etcetera, did you
 7    feel that he was internship ready in his fifth year?
 8          A.  In his fourth year, I unabashedly supported
 9    his internship readiness, based on his three years in
10    the program, and his performance in China in the summer
11    of 2011, and I supported his internship application
12    wholeheartedly, based upon that summer's performance,
13    which eliminated my doubts as to his ability to perform
14    clinical professional work, given Chinese culture,
15    Chinese language, and a specific protocol, and I gave
16    him a very strong recommendation for internship in, it
17    would have been October of 2011.
18          Q.  Well, then, in regards to the Chinese
19    internship, what about working in a clinical environment
20    was the second language in Cleveland?
21          A.  Once that opportunity emerged, given his
22    choices in the fall of 2012, information had
23    accumulated.  His dismissal from the externship site in
24    2011, his poor ratings by Dr. Lynch in her practicum in
25    the fall of 2011, his poor performance by myself and
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 1    we can't support it.
 2                Then you see the second option and the third
 3    option.  The second option was the one he eventually
 4    chose.  And it specifies the process, that it's subject
 5    to review and approval of the Clinical Training
 6    Committee, and it also specifies that I had given him an
 7    example.  I said, if you're going to propose this, here
 8    is a model.  We used the most recent one, and gave it to
 9    him.
10                It was his right, as someone who applied,
11    but does not match, to do so, and we adhered to our
12    policies to do that.  The third one is the one we were
13    hoping he would choose.  He's a student, he has rights,
14    he can choose what he wants.  It's our job to clarify
15    our position on each of those, so that you can see that
16    we thought the third option was a strong option, even
17    including the statement about, As his dissertation
18    demonstrates, parenting approaches for disruptive can be
19    well received and effectively practiced, given
20    culturally relevant accommodations, and he had proved
21    that had he could do that, and that this was consistent
22    with his goals as a professional.
23                And hence, we were quite supportive of
24    him -- we were encouraging him to take that third
25    option.  And it says right at the bottom, it's up to
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 1    him.  He'll choose.
 2          Q.  So without all that editorializing, does it
 3    say -- does this document say everything that you said
 4    in answering my previous question?
 5          A.  I don't have a paragraph about my previous
 6    answer.
 7          Q.  We can read it back to you.
 8          A.  I would hope so.  I would think so.
 9          Q.  But you don't know?
10                MR. KELLY: Object to the form.
11                THE WITNESS: I'm not certain.
12    BY MR. COULTER: 
13          Q.  As his mentor, you just never really sat
14    down and had this conversation with him, did you?
15                MR. KELLY: Object to the form.
16                THE WITNESS: I had followed up this with
17    meeting with him, and I'm certain -- I certainly met
18    with him, and I certainly was honest and straightforward
19    about these different options.  And I imagine I
20    summarized our suggestion of doing the culturally
21    consistent accommodation.  But that we would support his
22    right to apply to a non-standard internship.  And
23    that -- certainly that first option was not a good
24    option, because we wouldn't approve.  Once we had to
25    verify it, we would have said no, we don't think he's
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 1    ready.
 2    BY MR. COULTER: 
 3          Q.  So he really had two options?
 4          A.  That's correct.
 5          Q.  Except we say he has three options?
 6          A.  That's correct.  We lay out the three
 7    possibilities, and try to give him some reasons to
 8    consider that third option.  But the second one was
 9    still there for him to use, which is what he chose.
10          Q.  All right.  So let's go back Plaintiff's 6,
11    because I still want to beat a dead horse.  Go to ISU
12    Document 0641, which is the second page of Exhibit 6.
13    Now, Doctor, I'm just having a really big disconnect.
14    My disconnect is this.  My disconnect is that I think --
15    and correct me if I'm wrong -- but it seems as though
16    the attitude of the psychology department, in which
17    you're his mentor, in regards to Mr. Yu, is that if you
18    don't pick up on the -- all the language in the
19    document, then that's your fault.
20                MR. KELLY: Object to the form.
21    BY MR. COULTER: 
22          Q.  It's your opinion.  You can answer the
23    question.
24                MR. KELLY: If you can answer it, go ahead.
25    I'm not sure what's meant by, attitude of the
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 1    department.
 2                THE WITNESS: Speaking for myself?
 3    BY MR. COULTER: 
 4          Q.  Speaking for yourself.
 5          A.  I believe that this document is written not
 6    only for Mr. Yu, and hence the language tries to very
 7    carefully explain to him why we rejected his appeal.  So
 8    it's written for him.  But it also reflects the belief
 9    of the faculty who made the decision to deny the appeal.
10    So it's written to be consistent with the faculty
11    process of reviewing his appeal.
12                It's also written so that he can see exactly
13    why we made the decision we did.  That includes the
14    Arguments 1, 2, and Subpoint B, and Argument 3, that he
15    had proposed to us, such as, Why shouldn't I be allowed
16    to do the internship in China now?  Or why were
17    Dr. Chase's arguments not considered?  Or -- you can go
18    up to Argument 2 and Argument 1 as well.
19          Q.  I know.  I wrote the rebuttal.
20          A.  Okay.
21          Q.  Go down to Argument No. 3.  And it says, I
22    guess it's the last two sentences.  I'll read it:  Based
23    on the available data, we believe you may actually put
24    patients at risk, not as a matter of inadequate
25    linguistic abilities, but as a matter of poor
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 1    perspective taking and difficulties with
 2    conceptualization.  The graduate faculty is convinced
 3    that a fourth chance, i.e., an internship in China, is
 4    unwarranted, and might put Chinese patients at risk of
 5    harm.
 6                So the faculty decided this?
 7          A.  Yes.
 8          Q.  So how many of the faculty were familiar
 9    with culture in China?
10          A.  I have no inherent knowledge of any of the
11    other faculty.  I'm always trying to understand folks
12    from different cultures than mine, or different
13    linguistics perspectives.  It's a program goal to do so,
14    but are we experts?  No.
15          Q.  That wasn't responsive to my question.
16                MR. COULTER: Could you read the question
17    back to Dr. Roberts?
18                (Last Question Read Back.)
19                THE WITNESS: I have no idea.
20    BY MR. COULTER: 
21          Q.  Wouldn't it be important to know, since this
22    was the decision of the faculty, with the data?
23                MR. KELLY: Object to the form.
24                THE WITNESS: No.  Because they're basing
25    their opinion upon his performance, which is our ethical
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 1    duty, on his performance in the program.
 2    BY MR. COULTER: 
 3          Q.  But not in China?
 4          A.  We can only evaluate his performance based
 5    on what he does with us.  Part of those data, however,
 6    included his successful work in the summer of 2011.
 7          Q.  Now, in your working with Mr. Yu, did you
 8    see any evidence that Mr. Yu, in working with Chinese
 9    patients, would subject his patients to harm?
10          A.  I have no evidence that he subjected his
11    patients, during the summer of 2011, in China, when he
12    did his dissertation, to any harm.
13          Q.  Do you see where it says, Subpoint B,
14    Dr. Cheryl Chase?
15          A.  Yes.
16          Q.  And I'm not going to read the whole thing
17    for the record, but it is my understanding that you,
18    apparently, did not take Dr. Chase's evaluation into
19    consideration when considering the dismissal of Mr. Yu.
20    Is that correct?
21          A.  No.
22          Q.  You did take it into consideration?
23          A.  Yes.
24          Q.  Did you give it any weight?
25          A.  No.

Page 96

 1          Q.  Why not?
 2          A.  Because she did not require him to perform
 3    any clinical duties during her tenure of supervising
 4    him.
 5          Q.  Are you sure about that?
 6          A.  Yes.
 7          Q.  How do you know that?
 8          A.  She's explicitly stated in her evaluation
 9    that his performance during her work with him was
10    limited to discussion, hypothetical cases, didactics.
11    She even explicitly stated that she was reluctant, and
12    therefore did not allow him to even test her
13    learning-disabled population, because of his linguistic
14    abilities.  So her information was considered, but given
15    no weight.
16                (Exhibit No. 12 Marked.)
17    BY MR. COULTER: 
18          Q.  I want you to take your time and read
19    Exhibit No. 12.  Have you read it?
20          A.  I've read it in the past.
21          Q.  I'm asking you to read it now.
22          A.  Okay.  I've read it.
23          Q.  Do you see -- let me see where I'm looking
24    here.  Do you see the second paragraph?
25          A.  Okay.
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 1          Q.  I'm going to read it for the record:  I am a
 2    psychologist in private practice, and conduct primarily
 3    psychoeducational assessments of school-aged children.
 4    Thus far, Jun and I have discussed about a dozen cases,
 5    and provided direct clinical service to approximately
 6    six cases.  In my opinion, we are just finishing the
 7    getting-to-know-one-another phase of the internship.
 8                Do you see that?
 9          A.  Yes.
10          Q.  So if a person is discussing cases and
11    providing direct clinical service to six cases, is that
12    person not performing therapeutic work?
13          A.  I am unsure, until I see the actual formal
14    evaluation, what the term direct clinical service means.
15    And when she performed the same APPIC competency
16    evaluation, she specifically indicated that he had
17    provided no testing services, which was what her goal
18    was.
19                If there was a therapeutic service in the
20    sense of helping these learning-disabled grade schoolers
21    to perform in some way, she needed to indicate that on
22    the APPIC form as to the quality of his therapy
23    services, and she did not do so.  In other words, I
24    don't know what this means, but I do know what the APPIC
25    competency evaluation she submitted to us does specify,
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 1    and it specifies that he did no direct testing or
 2    therapies with the students at her site.
 3          Q.  Well, it says in plain language, Thus far,
 4    Jun and I have discussed about a dozen cases and
 5    provided direct clinical service --
 6          A.  Okay.  And --
 7                MR. KELLY: Wait for a question.
 8    BY MR. COULTER: 
 9          Q.  Is that clear language?
10          A.  That's clear language.
11          Q.  And if you are a psychologist looking at
12    someone saying that she and her student have provided
13    direct clinical service, what would that mean to you?
14          A.  I don't know what it means, because it could
15    mean observing her give service, it could mean
16    performing testing, it could be performing some
17    psychotherapeutic intervention to help kids with their
18    reading disorders.  I don't know what it means.
19                Until I look at what we call the hours
20    data -- when we evaluate anyone in practicum, and this
21    is like a practicum, we are always looking at how many
22    hours of what kind of service did you give, as well as,
23    it's the hours, and then the supervisor's ratings of
24    your performance for those particular hours.
25                When we looked at that actual rating, which
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 1    was the APPIC competency form, there was no evidence at
 2    all in that form that he had delivered any services, and
 3    she was even reluctant to allow him to test, which he
 4    did not do.  It explicitly states that.
 5                We've looked at this several times.  It
 6    explicitly states that she had not allowed him, and he
 7    had not even tested the kids, which was, if I recall
 8    from the proposal, the main clinical training she was
 9    going to give him.
10          Q.  So she doesn't know what she's talking about
11    when she writes this?
12                MR. KELLY: Objection to the form.
13    BY MR. COULTER: 
14          Q.  You can answer the question.
15          A.  The word direct clinical service needs to be
16    clarified.
17          Q.  Is that a term of art in your profession?
18          A.  All of us who write evaluations want to know
19    the substance of that evaluation.  So how long, how many
20    cases, and what was it you did, and then what was the
21    evaluation of your performance for what it was you did.
22    And hence the term direct clinical service could mean
23    lots of things.
24                So I'm very pleased to see that, when I as
25    Director of Clinical Training get a letter from someone.
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 1    Now I want to know the substance, and the only substance
 2    provided by Dr. Chase, quite appropriately, was the
 3    APPIC competency evaluation form, which was a part of
 4    her obligation when she signed on to be a supervisor.
 5    She did that, we reviewed it, and he didn't see any
 6    patients in a direct internship role, in terms of
 7    actually giving the evaluation.
 8          Q.  Did you talk to Dr. Chase?
 9          A.  No.
10          Q.  Why not?  I mean, you're going to get rid of
11    somebody from school after five years, and you didn't
12    talk to Dr. Chase?
13                MR. KELLY: Objection.
14                MR. COULTER: It's argumentative, and I
15    apologize.
16    BY MR. COULTER: 
17          Q.  Why not talk to Dr. Chase?
18          A.  We had sufficient records to make a
19    judgment, and it's the records that we use to perform or
20    review of the internship performance, and she was one of
21    the two supervisors that provided us records.
22          Q.  Did you talk to Dr. Speer?
23          A.  I only talked with Dr. Speer twice.  Once in
24    January, when she noted that he was not as far along as
25    she had anticipated, and then she gave me the phone call
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 1    at the point she had made the decision to dismiss him
 2    from the internship, which was her right.  And we
 3    received the records from that.  So I talked with her
 4    twice.
 5          Q.  And you talked to Dr. Chase?
 6          A.  I never spoke with Dr. Chase on the phone.
 7    We had email conversations, and we had the records.
 8          Q.  Well, was Mr. Yu engaged -- was Mr. Yu
 9    engaged in therapeutic work with Dr. Speer?
10          A.  Yes.  I'm rather certain on her form she
11    rated his -- rated his performance with the autistic
12    kids in her clinic, so there was evidence that he was
13    working with the children in the clinic under her
14    supervision.
15          Q.  And in two days, she felt he had the skills?
16          A.  In four months she made -- she dismissed him
17    on April 4th.  I remember that date exactly.  So three
18    months' worth of work, she made her decision, based on
19    his performance under her supervision in that autism
20    center she directs.
21          Q.  So it was your understanding that Mr. Yu was
22    engaged in some type of therapeutic actions, I guess,
23    with clients?
24          A.  My recall is that our focus discussions were
25    on the assessment tool, but if I had in front of me her
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 1    believe, was given to us.
 2          A.  It's this thick, and I'm a co-signer.
 3          Q.  So on the dissertation, would it be fair to
 4    say that your name is on that?
 5          A.  Yes.
 6          Q.  And Ms. Wong?
 7          A.  Yes.  Because she was on the committee,
 8    Dr. Wong.
 9          Q.  So the only thing that concerns you is that
10    it's published in Proquest Dissertation and Thesis?
11          A.  It could be that this is a ProForma kind of
12    documentation for people that have dissertations, in
13    which only the student is named, in which case there is
14    no ethical problem.
15          Q.  All right.
16          A.  But this is the first I've seen of this.
17          Q.  But the bottom line is, you testified
18    before, without going into too much of this, it was
19    successful and you were pleased with his work in China?
20          A.  It is acceptable, it was successful, I was
21    very pleased.
22                MR. COULTER: Let's go to Exhibit 9.
23    BY MR. COULTER: 
24          Q.  Dr. Roberts, I've -- you've been handed
25    Exhibit 9.  Just go ahead and take a look at it.  And
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 1    when you're done looking at it, just let me know.
 2          A.  I'm done looking at what I was given.
 3          Q.  Do you know what you're looking at?
 4          A.  Oh, it's complicated here.  It's not just
 5    this.  Okay.  Go ahead.
 6          Q.  So Dr. Roberts, are you familiar with the
 7    American Psychological Association Code of Conduct?
 8          A.  Yes.
 9          Q.  And for purposes of getting through this a
10    little faster, I'm going to say the APA.
11          A.  Yes.
12          Q.  All right.  Now, can you tell me if you're
13    familiar with the APA Accreditation Guidelines and
14    Procedures?
15          A.  Yes.
16          Q.  Can you tell me what the Accreditation
17    Guidelines and Procedures are?
18          A.  The guidelines and principles for
19    accreditation are promulgated by the American
20    Psychological Association, and thoroughly describe the
21    current operational processes for all accredited
22    programs.
23          Q.  Now, is the Idaho State University
24    Department of Psychology guided by the APA Code of
25    Conduct and the APA Accreditation Guidelines and
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 1    Principles?
 2          A.  Yes.
 3          Q.  Does the Idaho State University Department
 4    of Psychology consider those, the conduct and the
 5    guidelines?  Not just to guide, but do they adhere to
 6    them?
 7                MR. KELLY: I object to the form.
 8    BY MR. COULTER: 
 9          Q.  Okay.  Well, let me just break it down a
10    little bit.  Let's just take the first one, the
11    association.  The APA Accreditation Guidelines.  They're
12    guidelines.  Does Idaho State University take those
13    guidelines as things that they actually go by?
14          A.  We always strive to meet the criteria for
15    every one of the guidelines, as best we can.
16          Q.  Now, same question, except we're talking
17    about the APA conduct -- Code of Conduct?
18          A.  Code of Conduct and Ethics?
19          Q.  Yes.
20          A.  Yes, we certainly hope to always adhere to
21    all ethical principles.
22          Q.  Now, on Exhibit 9, I want you to go to the
23    second page of Exhibit 9.
24          A.  Okay.
25          Q.  And I'm going to be talking about
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 1    Principle A.  Now, Principle A says, it's the
 2    Beneficence and Nonmaleficence.  That's what Principle A
 3    is.  Correct?
 4          A.  Um-hum.
 5                MR. KELLY: Yes?
 6                THE WITNESS: Yes.
 7    BY MR. COULTER: 
 8          Q.  Now, Principle A, it says that,
 9    Psychologists strive to benefit those with whom they
10    work, and take care to do no harm in their professional
11    actions.  Psychologists seek to safeguard welfare and
12    the rights of those with whom they interact
13    professionally, and other affected persons, and the
14    welfare of animals subject to research.  Do you see
15    that?  It's on the second column?
16          A.  Yes, I see it.
17          Q.  Did you want time to read that yourself?
18          A.  I've read it.
19          Q.  Okay.  If you go to where it says American
20    Psychological Association Ethical Principles of
21    Psychologists and Code of Conduct, it's like the fourth
22    page in that packet.
23          A.  Yes.
24          Q.  Do you see where it says, 3.04, Avoiding
25    harm?
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 1          A.  Yes.
 2          Q.  It specifically states that, Psychologists
 3    take reasonable steps to avoid harming their clients,
 4    patients, students, supervisees, research participants,
 5    organization clients and others with whom they work, and
 6    to minimize harm where it is foreseeable and
 7    unavoidable.
 8                Do you see that?
 9          A.  Yes.
10          Q.  So again, what due process rights did Mr. Yu
11    have as a student at ISU as a Doctor of Clinical
12    Psychology program?
13          A.  He had all of the due process rights
14    specified in the Clinical Student Handbook, which were
15    consistent with the due process rights specified in the
16    graduate catalog, both of which pertained to Mr. Yu
17    during his tenure.
18          Q.  This is a question, you can answer it the
19    best way you can.  Did ISU, in agreeing to the
20    Affiliation Agreement, take reasonable steps to avoid
21    Mr. Yu having to give up his due process rights?
22                MR. KELLY: Let me object that it calls for
23    a legal conclusion.  But if you can answer that, from
24    your perspective.
25                THE WITNESS: Allow me to say a couple of
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 1    things.  One, when we place a student in a site external
 2    to ISU, the students serve at the pleasure of that site.
 3    The students are fully informed that, although they can
 4    appeal a grade or dismissal at ISU, most sites, not
 5    all -- do not provide due process.  It wasn't just this
 6    non-standard APPIC site.
 7    BY MR. COULTER: 
 8          Q.  Let me cut you off here.
 9          A.  All right.
10          Q.  Because I'm trying to get you out of here on
11    time.  I want you to listen to the question.
12          A.  All right.
13          Q.  I want you to take into consideration
14    Principle A that we've talked about, and the Guidelines,
15    the Ethical Principles of Psychologists Code of Conduct.
16    We're not talking about being a lawyer.  We're talking
17    about being a psychologist, and looking at these
18    particular principles and statements here.
19                Now, what I'm asking you is, in your opinion
20    as a psychologist, being guided by the Code and the
21    Ethics, did ISU, in agreeing to the Affiliation
22    Agreement, take reasonable steps to avoid Mr. Yu having
23    to give up his due process rights?
24          A.  I believe we were compelled to communicate
25    the limits of the Cleveland Clinic's internship offer
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 1    that they were willing to provide, not only Mr. Yu, but
 2    of students at the Cleveland Clinic, of which there are,
 3    I believe hundreds.  If a student wishes to advance
 4    their career and meet their degree requirements, which
 5    Mr. Yu did have on his plate, he had to meet the
 6    requirement of a clinical internship.
 7                They have choices.  He chose to construct a
 8    non-standard internship at that site, and like all
 9    students at that site, he had to accept their
10    conditions, which included no due process.  They, like
11    all sites, assume that the students' rights were
12    protected in the sense that they could always appeal a
13    grade, or appeal dismissal at their home university.
14    And we had conversations about that section of the
15    proposed non-APPIC site, which you have the documents
16    of, that go into the depth of concern we had about the
17    no due process rights that were identified by our expert
18    reviewer, that Mr. Yu was explicitly informed of.
19          Q.  I'm going to stop you.  We've had, you've
20    testified to that probably three or four times.  This is
21    a very specific question.  We're talking about an
22    affirmative action on the part of Idaho State
23    University, either the department of psychology,
24    whatever, from a psychologist's standpoint.
25                What I'm asking you is, did ISU, in agreeing

Page 121

 1    to the Affiliation Agreement, take reasonable steps to
 2    avoid Mr. Yu from having to give up his due process
 3    rights?
 4          A.  I believe we did.
 5          Q.  What steps did you take to avoid Mr. Yu
 6    having to give up his due process rights?
 7          A.  We looked at all other aspects of the
 8    proposal to determine that the tasks that would be
 9    required of him were consistent with his goals; that the
10    trainer, the supervisors of those tasks were
11    appropriately credentialed and willing to help him; that
12    the number of hours of requirement for the internship
13    were consistent with national standards; that he was
14    supervised by those individuals; and we said, given this
15    mixture of curricula, credentialed supervisors, clinical
16    tasks, his interest in those clinical tasks, that was
17    our effort to ensure that his internship was comparable,
18    and that despite the absence of due process, he -- at
19    that site, he was still protected by our due process as
20    a student registered in a course.
21                MR. COULTER: Exhibit 10.
22    BY MR. COULTER: 
23          Q.  Dr. Roberts, we're almost there.
24          A.  Okay.
25          Q.  Dr. Roberts, you have Exhibit No. 9 and

Min-U-Script® M & M Court Reporting Service
(208)345-9611(ph)  (800)234-9611  (208)-345-8800(fax)

(30) Pages 118 - 121

Case 4:15-cv-00430-REB   Document 56-20   Filed 09/14/17   Page 21 of 22



Yu v.
Idaho State University

Mark Roberts, Ph.D.
July 20, 2016

Page 122

 1    Exhibit No. 10 in front of you.  Is that correct?
 2          A.  Yes.
 3          Q.  So you've already looked at Exhibit No. 9.
 4    Now what I want you to do is go to the last -- probably
 5    about the last page.  The second-to-the-last page of
 6    Exhibit 9.  Okay?  And do you see where it says
 7    Domain E, Student Faculty Relations?  That is
 8    Exhibit 10, I bet.  Exhibit 9.
 9          A.  The last page?
10          Q.  Next to the last.
11          A.  Okay.
12          Q.  Are you familiar with that?
13          A.  Yes.
14          Q.  Do you need time to read it?
15          A.  Okay.
16          Q.  So looking at that last page, right after
17    paragraph 4, subparagraph B, pretty close to that, there
18    is a paragraph in there -- actually there's a sentence
19    in there that says this, In all matters relevant to the
20    evaluation of students' performance, programs must
21    adhere to their institutions relations, and local state
22    and federal statutes regarding due process and fair
23    treatment of students.
24                Do you see that?
25          A.  Yes.
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 1          Q.  And I'm going to call your attention to
 2    Exhibit No. 10.  And I just want you to take a look at
 3    the Grievance Process, which is the second page, which
 4    has page 33 at the top.
 5          A.  Okay.
 6          Q.  I believe you've testified to this, but I
 7    just want to make sure that these are the grievance
 8    procedures that would be appropriate for Mr. Yu.
 9          A.  Yes.  They would pertain to Mr. Yu.
10          Q.  But in working with Dr. Speer at CCA, Mr. Yu
11    did not have that grievance process, did he?
12          A.  That's correct.
13          Q.  And the Affiliation Agreement specifically
14    does not grant this right to a grievance.  Is that
15    correct?
16          A.  That's correct.
17          Q.  Now, the question is very specific.  No one
18    from Idaho State University -- I'll put it this way.  Is
19    it true that no one from Idaho State University insisted
20    that ISU should not allow Mr. Yu to agree to an
21    Affiliation Agreement that did not contain due process
22    protections?
23          A.  Too many negatives for me to understand the
24    question.
25          Q.  So I'll read it again.  No one from ISU
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 1    insisted that ISU should not allow Mr. Yu to agree to an
 2    Affiliation Agreement that did not contain due process
 3    protection?
 4          A.  That's correct.
 5                MR. COULTER: I have no further questions.
 6                MR. KELLY: I have no questions.
 7                MR. COULTER: Dr. Roberts, thank you for
 8    your participation.  I know this has been kind of a
 9    trying experience for you.  It's part of what we do, I
10    appreciate your patience.
11                THE WITNESS: I accept that.
12                (Deposition Concluded at 12:32 p.m.)
13                (Signature Was Requested.)
14                           * * * * *
15   
16   
17   
18   
19   
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
25   
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 1                     CERTIFICATE OF WITNESS
 2   
 3    I, DR MARK ROBERTS, being first duly sworn, depose and
 4    say:
 5    That I am the witness named in the foregoing deposition,
 6    consisting of pages 1 through 124; that I have read said
 7    deposition and know the contents thereof; that the
 8    questions contained therein were propounded to me; and
 9    that the answers contained therein are true and correct,
10    except for any changes that I may have listed on the
11    Change Sheet attached hereto.
12                 DATED this _____ day of ____________,____.
13   
14                 ___________________________________
15                 MARK ROBERTS, Ph.D.
16                 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this
17                 ____day of ____________, _____.
18   
19                 _________________________________________
20                 NAME OF NOTARY PUBLIC
21   
22                 RESIDING AT _____________________________
23   
24                 MY COMMISSION EXPIRES ___________________
25   
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